#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: SC-10-897 Lower Tribunal No.: 4D09-5

#### DK ARENA, INC.,

Petitioner,

v.

## EB ACQUISITIONS, I, LLC,

Respondent.

## DK ARENA, INC.'S INITIAL BRIEF

Alvin B. Davis Fla. Bar No. 218073 Tania Cruz Fla. Bar No. 899151 Jeffrey B. Grossfeld Fla. Bar No. 059742 Squire, Sanders & Dempsey L.L.P. 200 South Biscayne Boulevard Suite 4100 Miami, Florida 33131-2398 Tel. (305) 577-2835 Fax. (305) 577-7001

Counsel for DK Arena, Inc.

#

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On July 20, 2004, EB Acquisitions, I, LLC ("EB") contracted to purchase real property from DK Arena, Inc. ("DK"), posting a \$1 million deposit (the "Agreement"). (App. 3 at ¶ 2). The Agreement provided for a sixty-day Due Diligence Period, ending September 20, 2004. (App. 3 at ¶ 7). If EB did not terminate the Agreement prior to expiration of the Due Diligence Period, the deposit was to be released to DK. (App. 4 at ¶ 10; App. 2 at 166:1-8, 167:3-6).<sup>1</sup>

Modifications to the Agreement were required to be in writing. (App. 3 at ¶ 15). On September 13, a written amendment extended the Due Diligence Period to October 4. (App. 5). Around this time, EB, which was having difficulty obtaining its financing, proposed converting the project to a joint venture to develop the property. (App. 2 at 23-24; App. 7; App. 8; App. 9; App. 12). DK was willing to consider the proposal. (*Id*).

On October 4, DK orally agreed to extend the Due Diligence Period for one additional week, through October 11, while the structure and terms of a possible joint venture were addressed. (App. 2 at 27:12-13, 178-79; App. 7; App. 8; App. 9; App. 12). On October 11, EB requested yet another extension. (App. 2 at 169-73; App. 10 at 7:12-15, 7:19-25, 8:1-4, 9:25-10:23, 11:9-19). DK's chief executive

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> "At the end of the Due Diligence Period, assuming that [EB] has not given notice to [DK] that it intends to terminate the Contract, the parties shall take the following actions: (a) The Deposit shall be released to [DK]." (App. 4 at  $\P$  10).

was unavailable at that time and no one else within DK was authorized to grant the extension. (*Id*). Accordingly, no further extension was possible at the time. (*Id*). DK advised EB of that fact and further advised EB to terminate the Agreement in order to avoid forfeiting the deposit. (*Id*). EB was assured that joint venture negotiations would continue following such a termination. (*Id*). For commercial reasons of its own, EB declined to terminate the Agreement. (App. 2 at 171-72). Therefore, in accordance with the express terms of the Agreement, DK demanded the deposit. (App. 2 at 21, 35; App. 6; App. 10 at 28:4-9). EB refused to allow payment. (App. 2 at 36:24-25; App. 10 at 28:4-9).

On December 8, DK was forced to sue to obtain the deposit. EB counterclaimed, alleging a purported oral joint venture agreement that, among other things, extended the Due Diligence Period indefinitely.

Following a one-day, non-jury trial, the trial court held that EB was entitled to a return of the deposit. (App. 13 at 4-5, 8). That ruling was predicated on a completely new and different oral joint venture, one never pled by EB or addressed at trial by either party, which purportedly extended the Due Diligence Period indefinitely. (App. 13 at 8). EB was awarded damages based on DK's breach of that newly-minted oral joint venture. (App. 13 at 9-10).

DK appealed, asserting that: (1) the indefinite extension of the Due Diligence Period was error because an oral modification of a land sales contract is

2

barred by the Statute of Frauds; (2) the finding of an oral joint venture was error because it, too, was barred by the Statute of Frauds and the parties had never agreed on its terms; and (3) the evidence supporting the damage award was insufficient as a matter of law.

The Fourth District: (1) enforced an oral agreement to extend indefinitely the Due Diligence Period and awarded EB the deposit; (2) reversed the finding that an oral joint venture was formed; and (3) rejected the damage award. (App. 1).

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

This Court has held that promissory estoppel cannot be used to counteract the Statute of Frauds and cautioned that to do so would engraft into the law a doctrine that would effectively nullify the legislative will of this State. District Courts have similarly refused to apply the doctrine of promissory estoppel to circumvent the Statute of Frauds, and therefore, have found oral modifications to contracts subject to the Statute of Frauds unenforceable.

The Fourth District held that DK was estopped from asserting the Statute of Frauds because, in reliance on DK's alleged promise to hold the Due Diligence Period in abeyance indefinitely into the future, EB did not terminate the Agreement. The Fourth District characterized the estoppel that it applied as equitable estoppel. Equitable estoppel has no application here. Whatever the Fourth District's description, the facts here establish that this is demonstrably a

3

case of promissory estoppel. Promissory estoppel cannot trump the Statute of Frauds.

Equitable estoppel requires a showing that a party misrepresented or concealed an existing fact. Promissory estoppel differs from equitable estoppel in that the representation that forms the basis for one's assertion of that doctrine relates to a promise of a future act, as opposed to the statement of an existing fact. Thus, the representation at issue in promissory estoppel goes to future intent, while equitable estoppel involves a misrepresentation that goes to past or present fact.

This Court recognizes this distinction between equitable estoppel and promissory estoppel. However, District Courts not infrequently confuse and mischaracterize the doctrines, as did the Fourth District here.

The Fourth District found that DK promised to hold the Due Diligence Period in abeyance for an indefinite period of time extending into the future. Stated more precisely for purposes of the necessary analysis, according to the Fourth District, DK promised EB that it would be able to terminate the Agreement at a future date. This representation was promissory. DK did not conceal or misrepresent an existing fact. Thus, the Fourth District employed equitable estoppel where only promissory estoppel applied, and in doing so, enforced an oral modification to a contract subject to the Statute of Frauds. Its holding effectively nullified the legislatively created Statute of Frauds. Although the Fourth District chose to characterize the actions here as equitable estoppel, what was at issue in substance was promissory estoppel. Correctly construed, this decision conflicts directly with Supreme Court precedent holding that promissory estoppel cannot be used to counteract the Statute of Frauds.<sup>2</sup>

#### ARGUMENT

#### I. Standard of Review.

The Fourth District found that DK was estopped from relying on the Statute of Frauds because EB relied, to its detriment, on DK's promise to hold the Due Diligence Period in abeyance for an indefinite period of time.

The issue is whether the Fourth District erroneously employed equitable estoppel where only promissory estoppel applied. This is a pure question of law. Thus, the standard of review is *de novo* and no deference is given to the judgment of the lower courts. *D'Angelo v. Fitzmaurice*, 863 So. 2d 311, 314 (Fla. 2003).

# II. The Decision in this Case Directly Conflicts with this Court's Decision in *Tanenbaum*.

According to the Fourth District, the Statute of Frauds is not applicable to this case because "EB changed its position in reliance on the oral agreement to extend the due diligence period—it did not give notice . . . that it intended to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The decision in this case also conflicts with Supreme Court and District Court decisions holding that: (1) promissory estoppel differs from equitable estoppel in that the representation is promissory rather than as to an existing fact; and (2) oral modifications to contracts subject to the Statute of Frauds are unenforceable.

terminate the contract." (App. 1 at 10-11). Based on EB's purported reliance on DK's promise, the Fourth District ruled that DK was estopped from asserting the Statute of Frauds and found that the trial court "properly enforced the oral extension of the due diligence period." (*Id.* at 9).<sup>3</sup> This result is irreconcilable with this Court's decision in *Tanenbaum v. Biscayne Osteopathic Hosp., Inc.*, 190 So. 2d 777 (Fla. 1966).

In *Tanenbaum*, Plaintiff, a physician, had a five-year oral employment contract with Defendant, a hospital, to work as an osteopathic radiologist. *Id.* at 778. The contract was "terminable only after the expiration of that period and then only upon 90 days written notice by either party." *Id.* 

In reliance on the contract, Plaintiff, a Pennsylvania resident, left his job, sold his home at a loss, moved to Florida with his family, took the necessary licensing examinations, and bought a new home. *Id.* at 780; *Tanenbaum v. Biscayne Osteopathic Hosp., Inc.*, 173 So. 2d 492, 493-94 (Fla. 3d DCA 1965). He began his practice and was accepted "in all outward manifestations" as a member of the hospital staff. *Tanenbaum*, 173 So. 2d at 493-94. Plaintiff's employment was terminated just months later "upon purely personal grounds without relation to any question of his competency." *Id.* at 495. Accordingly,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> In fact, the trial court did not enforce an oral extension of the Due Diligence Period, but enforced a new, judicially-created oral joint venture distinct from the Agreement or any extension of provisions of that Agreement. (App. 13 at 8).

Plaintiff filed an action for damages. The Statute of Frauds was the "principal defense" asserted. *Tanenbaum*, 190 So. 2d at 778. As here, Plaintiff argued that Defendant was estopped from asserting the Statute. *Id. See also Tanenbaum*, 173 So. 2d at 495.

Notwithstanding the significant career and personal changes Plaintiff made in reliance on the oral contract, this Court determined that it was unenforceable. More to the point here, this Court rejected "promissory estoppel as a sort of counteraction to the legislatively created Statute of Frauds," reasoning that Plaintiff "had but to follow the provisions of the Statute of Frauds to secure his rights under the [contract]" instead of claiming "rather tardily that [the Statute of Frauds] did not apply...." *Tanenbaum*, 190 So. 2d at 779.

*Tanenbaum* and this case are identical in several material ways. Both have (1) contracts subject to the Statute of Frauds; (2) an oral promise relating to future intent; (3) parties seeking to avoid the Statute of Frauds by claiming detrimental reliance on an oral promise; and (4) nothing preventing the parties from having memorialized the promise in writing. In fact, here, DK expressly urged EB to terminate the Agreement to avoid what occurred in this case.<sup>4</sup> In *Tanenbaum*, conversely, Plaintiff repeatedly sought to have the agreement reduced to writing, although that was never accomplished. *Tanenbaum*, 190 So. 2d at 778.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> (App. 2 at 169-73; App. 10 at 7:12-15, 7:19-25, 8:1-4, 9:25-10:23, 11:9-19).

*Tanenbaum* and the result in the instant case clearly conflict. Nevertheless, the Fourth District essentially rejected *Tanenbaum*, concluding that promissory estoppel was not applicable because the parties had not attempted to set up a new enforceable promise. (App. 1 at 13).<sup>5</sup>

Instead, the Fourth District latched onto several cases, including one New York case from the late 1800's and a New Hampshire case from 1927, that misapplied the doctrine of equitable estoppel—where promissory estoppel governed—to enforce oral modifications of real estate contracts as a means of circumventing the Statute. (App. 1 at 10-13).

This patchwork of cases finds no support in Florida jurisprudence. They directly conflict with this Court's holding in *Tanenbaum*, as well as later Florida cases that have properly held that promissory estoppel cannot be used to circumvent the Statute of Frauds. If permitted to stand, the Fourth District's decision will allow promissory estoppel, mischaracterized as equitable estoppel, to vitiate the Statute of Frauds.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The Fourth District also found that promissory estoppel was not applicable because the parties did not "attempt to modify the financial terms of a written real estate contract . . ." (App. 1 at 13). There is no basis for the Fourth District's determination that promissory estoppel applies if a financial term of a real estate contract is altered, but not if the duration of a real estate contract is altered.

**III.** Only Promissory Estoppel is Applicable Here.

Equitable estoppel applies to "conduct which amounts to a false representation or concealment of material facts . . . ." 28 Am. Jur. 2d § 40. "It is a well-settled general rule that in order to furnish the basis of an estoppel, a representation . . . must relate to some present or past fact . . . as distinguished from mere promises or expressions of opinion as to the future." 22 Fla. Jur. 2d § 44; *Dep't of Revenue v. Anderson*, 403 So. 2d 397, 400 (Fla. 1981).

In contrast, "'[p]romissory' estoppel differs from ordinary 'equitable' estoppel in that the representation is promissory rather than as to an existing fact." *Southeastern Sales and Serv. Co. v. T. T. Watson, Inc.*, 172 So. 2d 239, 240 (Fla. 1965). It is axiomatic that a promise "as to the future will not support an estoppel." 31 C.J.S. § 92; *see also Southeastern Sales*, 172 So. 2d at 240 (Fla. 1965) ("Since the offer or promise in our case relates to a future act of the promisor, as opposed to some representation of a present fact by him which he later tried to deny, <u>equitable estoppel has no application</u>.") (emphasis added); 28 Am. Jur. 2d § 50 (A "claim is more appropriately analyzed under the doctrine of promissory estoppel, not equitable estoppel, where representations . . . are more akin to statements of future intent than past or present fact.") (emphasis added).

Here, EB has argued that DK "orally agreed" that it "would hold in abeyance all due diligence deadlines." (App. 14 at  $\P$  17). Again, at trial, EB's

chief executive asserted that DK agreed that it "would hold the due diligence in abeyance until we could get the agreement done because we were so close." (App. 2 at 139:24-25, 140:1-2). Similarly, the Fourth District stated that DK "agreed to hold the due diligence period 'in abeyance' until they 'could get the joint venture agreement memorialized." (App. 1 at 5). The aforementioned language demonstrates that both EB and the Fourth District itself expressly recognized that DK's purported representation—a promise that it would hold the Due Diligence Period open for an indefinite period of time continuing into the future—was promissory in nature because it "relate[d] to a future act of the promisor [DK]." *Southeastern Sales*, 172 So. 2d at 240. Indeed, there can be no doubt that a continuing obligation that extends into the indefinite future can only provide a basis for promissory estoppel, and not equitable estoppel.

This Court has previously recognized the distinction between equitable and promissory estoppel, having corrected prior mischaracterizations, such as this one, by the Fourth District.<sup>6</sup>

For example, in *Crown Life Ins. Co. v. McBride*, 517 So. 2d 660, 661 (Fla. 1987), Plaintiff sought to enforce an oral contract for insurance. The Fourth District certified the following question to the Florida Supreme Court: "May the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> It seems that these distinct doctrines are often confused because both have detrimental reliance as a key element.

theory of equitable estoppel be utilized to prevent an insurance company from denying coverage?" *Id.* This Court corrected the Fourth District's certified question, finding that it should have inquired if <u>promissory estoppel</u> could be used. *Id.* at 662. This Court then answered the reframed certified question in the affirmative, finding that "promissory estoppel may be utilized to create insurance coverage." *Id.* The basis for this Court's restatement of the question was that, as here, "several of the district courts ha[d], in effect, found [promissory estoppel] applicable, albeit in the <u>guise of equitable estoppel</u>." *Id.* (emphasis added).

This misapplication of equitable estoppel is not limited to *McBride*. District Courts have not infrequently confused promissory and equitable estoppel, resulting in conflicting decisions. For example, even in *Tanenbaum*, Plaintiff argued at trial that Defendant was estopped from asserting the Statute of Frauds. *See Tanenbaum*, 173 So. 2d at 493; *Tanenbaum*, 190 So. 2d at 778. Despite Plaintiff's attempted use of equitable estoppel, this Court addressed Plaintiff's "estoppel" in terms of <u>promissory estoppel</u> because Plaintiff was seeking to enforce a promise of future intent—an oral employment contract that continued into the future for five years—as opposed to a representation of past fact. *Tanenbaum*, 190 So. 2d at 778.

Similarly, in *City of Orlando v. West Orange Country Club*, 9 So. 3d 1268, 1269 (Fla. 5th DCA 2009), Plaintiff sought to enforce an unsigned contract to provide water for twenty years. Defendants raised the Statute of Frauds, but the

trial court found they were estopped from denying the contract and enforced it. *Id*. The Fifth District corrected the trial court's misapplication of equitable estoppel, and ruled that promissory estoppel could not be used to circumvent the Statute of Frauds. *Id*.

Additionally, the line of cases, described below, upon which the Fourth District relied here, similarly mischaracterized promissory estoppel as equitable estoppel. For example, in *Young v. Pottinger*, 340 So. 2d 518, 520 (Fla. 2d DCA 1977), having found no support in Florida jurisprudence, the Second District found comfort in *Warren v. Dodge*, a 1927 New Hampshire case, <sup>7</sup> in holding that equitable estoppel could be used to circumvent the Statute of Frauds. *Warren* stated in dicta that an estoppel could be used to plead around the Statute of Frauds where, as here, the parties orally agree to extend a written option contract to purchase land. That, of course, constitutes promissory estoppel since such an agreement clearly goes to future intent. *See South Inv. Corp. v. Norton*, 57 So. 2d 1, 3 (Fla. 1952). Notwithstanding the Second District's scrambling of the estoppel doctrines, *Young* was a promissory estoppel case.

In Affordable Homes, Inc. v. Devil's Run, Ltd., 408 So. 2d 679, 680 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982), another of the Fourth District's foundation stones, the First District, relying on Young, stated in dicta that a "cause of action can be stated under [an

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Warren v. Dodge, 138 A. 297, 299 (N.H. 1927).

estoppel] theory if the appellant pleads that it detrimentally relied on an oral modification . . . ." The First District's reference in *Affordable Homes* to equitable estoppel as a cause of action is yet another example of the failure of District Courts to properly differentiate between the doctrines. It is well-established that equitable estoppel is a defense, while promissory estoppel is an affirmative claim for relief. 28 Am. Jur. 2d § 35; *Bergman v. DeIulio*, 826 So. 2d 500, 504 (Fla. 4th DCA 2002).

Finally, in *United of Omaha Life Ins. Co. v. Nob Hill Assoc.*, 450 So. 2d 536 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984), the Third District merely followed *Affordable Homes* and *Young* in holding that equitable estoppel trumps the Statute of Frauds. It did not conduct any meaningful analysis of the facts in that case or of either doctrine.

In the instant case, the Fourth District also failed to analyze the doctrines or explain why equitable estoppel and not promissory estoppel applied. Rather, it simply followed this line of improperly decided cases, reasoning that the key to this case was detrimental reliance. (App. 1 at 10-11). The Fourth District prematurely stopped the analysis there. It is fundamental that detrimental reliance is a key element of both equitable estoppel and promissory estoppel. Accordingly, further analysis was required to determine the true nature of the representation upon which EB supposedly relied. This is so because this Court, in *Tanenbaum*, *South Inv. Corp.*, *McBride* and *Southeastern Sales*, unequivocally rejected detrimental reliance as a basis for avoiding the Statute of Frauds where the reliance is based on a representation of future intent—as was the case here.

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