IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC10-897

L.T. CASE NOS. 4D09-5; 2004CA0111452XX

DK ARENA, INC.,

Petitioner,

v.

EB ACQUISITIONS I, LLC,

Respondent.

EB ACQUISITIONS I, LLC RESPONSE BRIEF

KEVIN MARKOW, ESQ. Florida Bar No. 66982 GARY C. ROSEN, ESQ. Florida Bar No. 310107 DANIEL L. WALLACH, ESQ. Florida Bar No. 540277 THOMAS D. CANTWELL, ESQ. Florida Bar No. 0054983 BECKER & POLIAKOFF, P.A. Attorneys for Appellee 3111 Stirling Road Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33312 (954) 987-7550 (telephone) (954) 985-4176 (facsimile)

LAW OFFICES BECKER & POLIAKOFF, P.A. 3111 STIRLING ROAD • FORT LAUDERDALE, FL 33312-6525 TELEPHONE (954) 987-7550

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

other party. In such circumstances, the doctrine bars the party approving the waiver from invoking the statute of frauds to enforce the original terms of the written agreement. With all prerequisites for waiver and estoppel having been established at trial, the Fourth District Court of Appeal properly held that DK Arena could not raise the statute of frauds as a defense to its liability.

The doctrine of waiver and estoppel has been specifically endorsed by this Court as one pillar of a judicial construction that disallows the statute of frauds to be utilized as a tool of injustice. While this Court and the various District Courts of Appeal have held that certain parol agreements and/or contractual modifications violate the statute of frauds, these holdings in no way conflict with the appellate court's decision in this matter. Not a single case offered by DK Arena involves application of the doctrine of waiver and estoppel; the underlying facts in every case cited by DK Arena fail to meet at least one factor compelling application of the doctrine to avoid injustice.

DK Arena's claim of conflicting authority rests upon a strained reading of the appellate court's decision. The Fourth DCA did not rely on promissory estoppel. The court did not find that a promise as to a future act served to prevent DK Arena from invoking the statute of frauds to avoid the consequences of its promise to EB. The agreed suspension of the due diligence period was made in the present. DK's assent resulted in a waiver of a present right, the right to claim the \$1,000,000.00 on deposit, upon which EB contemporaneously relied by forbearing on its right to terminate the contract on October 4, 2004.

In the absence of any conflict with Florida precedent, and given that the Fourth District Court of Appeal merely followed a long line of Florida cases applying established judicial doctrine, this Court should affirm the decision of the lower courts as to the legal effect of the verbal agreement to suspend the due diligence period.

Irrespective of the suspension of the due diligence period, the trial court found, and the appellate court affirmed, that DK Arena breached paragraph 14 of the Addendum to the Agreement. DK Arena has not challenged the lower courts' determination of contractual breaches by DK Arena independent of the due diligence issue, which should not be re-opened by this Court.

The record shows that DK Arena took no action to obtain release of the escrow deposit until after King's failure to attend the pivotal meeting for project on October 26, 2004. On the record before this Court, failure of the deposit to have been automatically delivered to DK Arena can amount to no more than a non-material breach of the Agreement.

The record shows no evidence that EB prevented the release of the escrow deposit at any time prior to its receipt of DK Arena's initial demand, on October 27, 2004. However, the record does prove duplicitous dealings by DK Arena with

respect to other potential purchasers for the property, and through conversations with influential county commissioner Greene while DK Arena was under contract with EB. DK Arena beached its obligation to support the project with EB through its inexcusable failure to attend the pivotal meeting on October 26, 2004, which lead to the project's demise, and also through secret negotiations and dealings with other potential purchaser and commissioner Greene.

The record amply supports the lower courts' finding of breaches by DK Arena, independent of the due diligence issue, further compelling affirmance that EB is entitled to the return of its deposit.

ARGUMENT

I. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The findings of a trial court are presumptively correct and must stand unless clearly erroneous. *See Chiles v. State Employees Attorneys Guild*, 734 So. 2d 1030, 1034 (Fla. 1999). Questions of law, however, are reviewed *de novo. See D'Angelo v. Fitzmaurice*, 863 So. 2d 311, 314 (Fla. 2003).

II. <u>THE STATUTE OF FRAUDS MAY NOT BE USED AS A TOOL OF</u> <u>INJUSTICE</u>

This Court has specifically held, with regard to the statute of frauds, that courts have a responsibility to avoid unjust outcomes in applying the statute:

If we were to confine ourselves to the strict letter of the statute, and say that no power resides in the courts of equity to decree a conveyance of land in pursuance of a parol agreement to convey...we should go far towards abdicating one of [our] most important functions.

Tate's Adm'r v. Jones' Ex'r, 16 Fla. 216 (Fla. 1877). According to this Court, the purpose of the statute is to bar "actions based on nothing more than loose verbal statements or mere innuendos." *Yates v. Ball*, 132 Fla. 132, 138 (Fla. 1937). The statute "should be strictly construed" insofar as its application prevents "the fraud it was designed to correct." *Id.* These pronouncements, read together, demonstrate that this Court requires that the statute of frauds be strictly construed to prevent lawsuits within its ambit based upon disagreements as to oral statements so as to prevent fraudulent outcomes. However, the district court below correctly stated, "it should not be used as an instrumentality in aid of fraud or as a stumbling block in the path of justice." *DK Arena, Inc.*, 31 So. 3d at 323 (quoting *Kramer v. Ballard*, 24 N.W. 2d 80, 86 (Mich. 1946) (*Boyles, J., concurring*)).

This Court has also held that the statute of frauds is not to be used as a "sword" by a litigant, i.e., that a party may not induce action by a parol agreement then assert the statute of frauds as a means of escaping its resulting obligations. *See Carson v. Tanner*, 101 So. 2d 811, 813 (Fla. 1958). In *Carson*, the defendants sold property to the plaintiffs, with an understanding, unwritten and outside the

written contract of sale, that plaintiffs would have an easement to access their newly-acquired property through other land retained by defendants. *Id.* at 812. After four years, during which time plaintiffs accessed their property via the easement, defendants built a fence that blocked it. *Id.* Defendants then argued that because no easement was contained in the contract for sale of plaintiff's land—a contract where all essential terms must be reduced to writing under the statute of frauds—the statute of frauds barred the claim of easement. *Id.* This Court rejected defendant's argument, describing it as bringing "forth the statute of frauds to act as their sword to destroy what they had sold the plaintiffs." *Id.* at 813. The Court affirmed the lower court's findings and restated the principle that the statute of frauds is not a tool to create unjust outcomes.

The principle that the statute of frauds is not to be used in aid of injustice has led this Court to engraft upon the statute of frauds exceptions to the requirement that all contracts within its ambit be memorialized in writing. Most notable of these exceptions is the doctrine of partial performance. *See*, e.g., *Tate's Adm'r v. Jones' Ex'r*, 16 Fla. 216 (Fla. 1877); *Cottages, Miami Beach v. Wegman*, 57 So. 2d 439 (Fla. 1952); *Burton v. Keaton*, 60 So. 2d 770 (Fla. 1952). Under the doctrine of partial performance, an oral contract for the transfer of real property is enforceable, despite the requirements of the statute of frauds, if the claimant can demonstrate compliance with certain conditions.³

For example, in *Wegman*, claimant, at the written request of her father, relocated from New York City to Miami Beach to assist him in management of certain real property that he had purchased. 57 So. 2d at 440. In exchange for her assistance, claimant's father promised her a half-interest in the property at issue. *Id.* The correspondence outlining the promise did not meet the requirements of the statute of frauds. *Id.* Upon the death of her father, claimant sued for a decree entitling her to the interest in the real property promised. This Court, despite the agreement's clear violation of the statute of frauds, nonetheless awarded claimant

³ This Court's doctrine is in accord with the common law principle established in other jurisdictions. See, e.g., Purcell v. Miner, 71 U.S. 513, 518 (1866); B & A Pipeline Co. v. Dorney, 904 F. 2d 996 (5th Cir. 1990); Podolsky v. Alma Energy Corp., 143 F. 3d 364 (7th Cir. 1998)(applying Illinois law); Merrill Lynch Interfunding, Inc. v. Argenty, 155 F. 3d 113 (2d Cir. 1998)(citing New York law); Rennick v. O.P.T.I.O.N. Care, Inc., 77 F. 3d 309 (9th Cir. 1996)(citing California law); Chevron U.S.A. Inc. v. Schirmer, 11 F. 3d 1473 (9th Cir. 1993)(citing Arizona law); Johnson v. University Health Services, Inc., 161 F. 3d 1334 (11th Cir. 1998)(citing Georgia law); Nelson v. Elway, 908 P. 2d 102 (Colo. 1995); Montanaro Bros. Builders, Inc. v. Snow, 460 A.2d 1297 (Conn. 1983); Simons v. Simons, 11 P. 3d 20 (Idaho 2000); Pollmann v. Belle Plaine Livestock Auction, Inc., 567 N.W. 2d 405 (Iowa 1997); Beall v. Beall, 434 A.2d 1015 (Md. 1981); Schwedes v. Romain, 587 P. 2d 388 (Mont. 1978); Matthews v. Matthews, 341 N.W. 2d 584 (Neb. 1983); Delfino v. Paul Davies Chevrolet, Inc., 209 N.E. 2d 194 (Ohio 1965); Engelcke v. Stoehsler, 544 P. 2d 582 (Or. 1975); Player v. Chandler, 382 S.E. 2d 891 (S.C. 1989); Bradshaw v. McBride, 649 P. 2d 74 (Utah 1982); Runion v. Helvestine, 501 S.E. 2d 411 (Va. 1998); Matter of Lade's Estate, 260 N.W. 2d 665 (Wis. 1978).

the contested interest in land sought, holding that refusal to do so "would have been tantamount to countenancing an injustice amounting to a fraud upon appellee." *Id.* at 442. This Court has routinely and consistently held that the statute of frauds is not to be used as an instrument of injustice, but rather is limited to preventing litigation based on potentially fraudulent claims.

III. <u>THE STATUTE OF FRAUDS DOES NOT BAR PAROL WAIVER OF</u> <u>CONTRACTUAL PROVISIONS</u>

True to the principle that the statute of frauds is not to be used as an instrument of fraud, this Court has held that "the statute of frauds cannot be invoked where non-performance of the original terms has been occasioned by...oral modification...." Gilman v. Butzloff, 22 So. 2d 263, 265 (Fla. 1945). In Gilman, the plaintiff entered into a written contract for the sale of real property with the defendants requiring tender of the premises within 35 days of the date of the contract. Id. at 264. After execution of the documents, however, the parties verbally agreed that the plaintiff would take possession of the property only after the tenants residing on the premises vacated. Id. The defendants then did not turn over the premises to the plaintiff for nearly six (6) months after the date called for in the contract. Id. The plaintiff sued for damages resulting from the delay in This Court found for the defendants, holding that the doctrine of possession. *waiver* allowed for oral modification of a written contract:

[a] waiver of a covenant by the party for whose benefit it is inserted may be made by parol. Such waiver is held not to be a modification or change in the terms of the original agreement, but is deemed within the rule that a contract under seal may be released, surrendered, or discharged by matters in pais.

Id. (citing *Masser v. London Operating Co.*, 145 So. 79, 84 (Fla. 1932)). This Court further noted that waiver "may be inferred from conduct or acts putting one off his guard and leading him to believe that a right has been waived." *Id.* (citing *Kreiss Potassium Phosphate Co. v. Knight*, 124 So. 751 (Fla. 1930)).⁴

This Court reiterated the principles set forth in *Gilman* eight (8) years later in *Forbes v. Babel*, 70 So. 2d 371, 372 (Fla. 1953), where another a real estate transaction did not close in perfect accord with the timing required by the written contract. In *Forbes*, the contract required that the purchaser make payment within 30 days of the delivery of certain paperwork necessary for closing. *Id.* When the purchaser did not complete closing on the property by the designated time, the seller sought to retain the purchaser's deposit. *Id.* This Court found, however, that—much like the situation at issue in the instant matter—the seller had waived the time limit designated by contract: "there was discussion between the parties

⁴ It is noteworthy that this Court used the term "estop" in relation to its discussion of the doctrine of waiver. *Id.* ("Where the acts or conduct of a party are such as to estop him from insisting upon the right claimed to have been relinquished, no consideration is necessary.")

about closing it several times. Waiver of performance was shown and no definite time was set for closing." *Id.* This Court then held, simply and clearly, that "[t]he law is well settled that the vendor cannot take advantage of a delay in performance which he condoned or was a party to." *Id.* In such a circumstance the result is that the vendor could not take a benefit from a contractual provision waived.

Consistent with these holdings, the Second District Court of Appeal described the rule with regard to waiver of deadline provisions in contracts:

where performance by the plaintiff within a specified time was a condition precedent to the defendant's duty to perform his part-if the plaintiff has been caused to delay his performance beyond the specified time by the request or agreement or other conduct of the defendant, the plaintiff can enforce the contract in spite of his delay.

Young v. Pottinger, 340 So. 2d 518, 520-21 (Fla. 2d DCA 1976).⁵ In *Young*, the court found that the statute of frauds would not act as a bar to an oral extension of the closing date for a contract to convey real property as the parol agreement amounted to a waiver of the contractual deadline. In support of its finding, the court did not specify reliance on either equitable estoppel or promissory estoppel, but referred to the authority of 2 A. Corbin, Corbin on Contracts, § 310 (1950), the

⁵ DK Arena incorrectly asserts that the Second District Court of Appeals "found no support in Florida jurisprudence" for its decision; the *Young* court specifically refers to this Court's holding in *Gilman* in its opinion. *See Young*, 340 So. 2d at 521.

title of which reads "Oral Waiver of Conditions and Estoppel to Assert Them— Effect of a Substituted Performance by the Plaintiff."

Subsequent *Young*, the First District Court of Appeals reversed a trial court dismissal with prejudice of the plaintiff/purchaser's complaint for damages and specific performance of a real estate purchase agreement where the seller was alleged to have induced delays in closing. *Affordable Homes, Inc. v. Devils Run, Ltd.*, 408 So. 2d 679 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982). The court explained application of the doctrine of waiver and estoppel to prevent unjust consequences resulting from reliance upon verbal representations by seller, which vary from written terms of a contract:

[a] cause of action can be stated under that theory if the appellant pleads that it detrimentally relied on an oral modification, such as an extension of the time of performance agreed to by the appellant....The basis of this theory is not contractual: "(t)he party estopped is merely held to his written promise, but on different conditions."

Affordable Homes, Inc. v. Devil's Run, Ltd., 408 So. 2d 679, 680 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982)(citing *Young*). The court correctly noted that application of waiver or estoppel in this context is "inaccurately referred to as an exception to the statute of frauds." *Id.* Instead, the doctrine holds that the statute of frauds may not be used offensively, subsequent to an oral modification agreed to by the parties to a

contract and acted upon in reliance thereof by a party, to enforce the written terms of the contract.

The Third District Court of Appeal has also held that a party to a real estate contract, having agreed to an extension of time for the purchaser to secure financing for the deal, cannot invoke the statute of frauds to defeat the purchaser's claims when the purchaser acted in reliance upon the oral modification. *See United of Omaha Life Ins. Co. v. Nob Hill Assoc.*, 450 So. 2d 536, 539 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984). In *United of Omaha*, the court held that:

We agree with United that there can be no oral modification of an agreement which was required to be in writing by the statute of frauds.... However, this does not relieve United from liability. On the record before us, it is clear that United has waived its right to utilize the statute of frauds as a defense. In reliance upon United's oral agreement with Tower that it would allow Nob Hill a reasonable time to comply with the conditions precedent to the loan, Tower entered into a binding written contract with Nob Hill...Because Tower has changed its position in reliance upon United's consent to the new time, <u>United is estopped from claiming that it did not agree to a longer period of time for compliance.</u>

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